FILED
SID.I. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,182

THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO. 93-981

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

AUG 22 1994

ROBERT J. ROQUE,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

LAW OFFICES OF MARK KING LEBAN, P.A. 2920 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-5302 (305) 374-5500 Fla. Bar No. 0147920

and

ARTURO ALVAREZ, ESQUIRE 2151 S.W. LeJeune Road Suite 310 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

BY: MARK KING LEBAN
Counsel for Petitioner

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner, Robert Roque (hereinafter defendant), was charged by information with, <u>inter alia</u>, thirty-five counts of "commercial bribe receiving," in violation of section 838.15, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990). Each of the thirty-five counts of the information alleged as follows:

And the aforesaid Assistant State Attorney, under oath, further information makes that ROBERT JOSEPH ROQUE between October 1, 1990, and June 30, 1991, in the County and State aforesaid, did unlawfully and feloniously solicit, accept or agree to accept a benefit, to wit: CASH, good and lawful money of the United States of America, with the intent to violate a statutory or common law duty to which that person is subject, to wit: As an agent and/or employee and/or fiduciary and/or accountant and/or professional andvisor [sic]

838.15. Commercial bribe receiving

- (1) A person commits the crime of commercial bribe receiving if the person solicits, accepts, or agrees to accept a benefit with intent to violate a statutory or common law duty to which that person is subject as:
 - (a) An agent or employee of another;
 - (b) A trustee, guardian, or other fiduciary;
- (c) A lawyer, physician, accountant, appraiser, or other professional adviser;
- (d) An officer, director, partner, manager, or other participant in the direction of the affairs of an organization; or
- (e) An arbitrator or other purportedly disinterested adjudicator or referee.
- (2) Commercial bribe receiving is a third degree felony, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

¹The statute provides:

and/or other participant in the direction of the affairs of KELLY TRACTOR COMPANY, in violation of s. 838.15 Fla. Stat., contrary to the form of the Statute in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Florida.

The defendant was a credit manager for Kelly Tractor Company. As part of his job, he extended credit to entities seeking to finance or refinance construction equipment. In locating suitable entities to which to extend credit, the defendant worked with a Mr. Smith, who helped locate suitable candidates. For each suitable candidate that Mr. Smith brought in, he was paid a commission by Kelly Tractor. The State alleged that the defendant entered into an unauthorized side agreement with Mr. Smith, under which Mr. Smith paid the defendant between 33 and 40 percent of each commission as a "kickback." (App.A, Slip Opinion at page 3). The dates alleged in the information, set forth above, were between October 1, 1990, and June 30, 1991, during which the commission arrangement between the defendant and Smith was in operation. It was not until after July 1, 1991, that Smith decided to terminate his arrangement and thus, his dealings with both defendant and Kelly Tractor. 2 (App.B at pages 2-3).

The defendant moved to dismiss the commercial bribery counts

²As the Circuit Court's ORDER found: "During the period alleged, Smith, to whom the defendant owed no fiduciary duty, voluntarily paid the defendant this portion from his commission;***The Court finds that the defendant did not serve as Smith's employee, and that during the period of time alleged in the information, KELLY obtained exactly what it bargained for through its financing and refinancing of loans with Mr. Smith. KELLY suffered no harm during the period of time charged in the information, but rather profited through its transactions with Smith in the normal course of business. . .". (App.B, pages 3-4).

on the grounds that section 838.15, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), is unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to arbitrary application. The Circuit Court granted the motion and declared the statute unconstitutional. See App.B; R.145-52. The State thereafter timely appealed the order of dismissal and the Third District, on July 12, 1994, issued its decision reversing the Circuit Court's order of dismissal and expressly declaring section 838.15, constitutional. (App.A).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

POINT I

WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(b)(3), FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT, EXPRESSLY DECLARED A FLORIDA STATUTE CONSTITUTIONAL?

POINT II

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT, EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH SEVERAL DECISIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District's decision expressly declares section 838.15, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), constitutional. This alone affords this Court discretionary review jurisdiction. In addition, the Third District has hopelessly and irreconcilably conflicted with several constitutional adjudications of this Court finding vague and susceptible-to-arbitrary-application several clearly analogous statutes. Because of the seriousness misapplication of this Court's precedents, and the severe criminal penalties imposed

by the statute here at issue, this Court should exercise its discretionary review jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(b)(3), FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT, EXPRESSLY DECLARED A FLORIDA STATUTE CONSTITUTIONAL.

This Court has discretionary review jurisdiction where the Third District has expressly upheld the constitutional validity of section 838.15, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990). Cuda v. State, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S346 (Fla. June 30, 1994); E.L. v. State, 619 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1993); Schmitt v. State, 590 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1991); Warren v. State, 572 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1991). Moreover, where, as here, the Third District has seriously misapplied this Court's precedents in a case involving the substantive, due process rights of an accused, this Court should exercise its discretionary review jurisdiction and determine the constitutional validity of the statute at issue.

POINT II

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT, EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH SEVERAL DECISIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT.

Section 838.15, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), prohibits a person in the capacity of, <u>inter alia</u>, an agent or employee of another, or a manager in the affairs of an organization, from accepting a thing of benefit "with intent to violate a statutory or common law duty" to which the person in his or her capacity is

subject. It fails to define the nature of the "statutory or common law duty" to which the person is subject, requires no harm to the employer or other fiduciary, and contains no scienter requirement. Similar statutes have been repeatedly condemned on vagueness and susceptibility-to-arbitrary-application grounds by this Court. Locklin v. Pridgeon, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So.2d 102 (1947); State v. DeLeo, 356 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1978); State v. Jenkins, 469 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1985); Cuda v. State, 19 Fla.L. Weekly S346 (Fla. June 30, 1994). The Third District, in expressly declaring this statute to be constitutionally valid, has necessarily and hopelessly conflicted with these decisions of this court. Moreover, the Third District has expressly and directly misapplied this Court's distinguishable decision in State v. Rodriguez, 365 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1978).

The statute here at issue is indistinguishable from others making it criminal for a "public servant" to obtain a benefit for himself and violating "any statute or lawfully adopted regulation or rule relating to his office," State v. DeLeo, supra, or "refrain[ing] from performing a duty imposed upon him by law. . . ", State v. Jenkins, 469 So.2d 733, 734 (Fla. 1985), or for an agent

The statute contains no requirement that the "statutory or common law duty" that is violated be a criminal or penal statute or duty. Thus, as in <u>State v. DeLeo</u>, 356 So.2d 306, 308 (Fla. 1978), the statute "is keyed to the violation of any statute, rule or regulation, pertaining to the [agency/employee status] of the accused, whether they contain criminal penalties themselves or not, and no matter how minor or trivial."

⁴The statute simply requires that the accused accept a benefit "with intent to violate a statutory or common law duty. . .", without requiring corrupt intent, or that the accused willfully or knowingly violate the "duty" at issue.

or employee of the state or federal government acting under color of such authority doing "any act. . .not authorized by law," Locklin v. Pridgeon, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So.2d 102, 103 (Fla. 1947), or a person managing the funds of an aged person "by the improper or illegal use" of such funds "for profit." Cuda v. State, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S346 (Fla. June 30, 1994). Yet, this Court, in each of these cases, struck the analogous statutes there at issue on the identical grounds utilized by the trial judge in the case at bar, namely, vagueness and susceptibility to arbitrary application.

The Third District's purported distinctions between the statute here at issue and those involved in the cited cases, are ephemeral. First, the Third District opined that the "'common law or statutory duties' involved are only those which apply to the professions or legal relationships specifically enumerated in" the statute. For instance, the Third District believed that "a lawyer understands the legal duties of a lawyer. . ., and a manager understands the legal duties of a manager." (App.A, page 4). However, the statute stricken by this Court in Locklin expressly enumerated the specific relationship of "an officer, agent or employee of the United States government, State of Florida, or any political subdivision thereof. . . ". 30 So.2d at 103. The statute involved in <u>Cuda</u> expressly enumerated a quardian of an "aged person or disabled adult" and one who "manage[s]. . . the funds, assets," of such person. And the statutes stricken in DeLeo and Jenkins expressly specified "public servants." It is submitted that the government employee in Locklin, the public servant in Jenkins, and the guardian of the aged in <u>Cuda</u> are no more or less "aware of the duties which are commensurate with that station" than a person in one of the professional or legal relationships set forth in section 838.15, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990). Far from distinguishing this Court's precedents, the Third District has, on the face of its opinion, collided with them.

Second, the Third District looked to the title of the statute, which includes the word "bribe," and rejected the Circuit Court's finding of vagueness based upon the rationale that "[i]ndividuals of common intelligence know what a 'bribe' is." (App.A, page 5). In so holding, the Third District clearly ignored the fact that the statute stricken by this Court in <u>Cuda</u> on the identical grounds utilized by the Circuit Court below, was "[p]enalties relating to abuse, neglect, or exploitation of aged person or disabled adult." And, of course, the statutes condemned by this Court on vagueness and susceptibility-to-arbitrary-application grounds in <u>DeLeo</u> and <u>Jenkins</u> was "Official misconduct." Thus, resort to the title of the statute does not cure the inherent vagueness within its body.

Next, the Third District finds the statute not susceptible to arbitrary application, again, because of "the finite list of professions/legal relationships to which the statute applies," holding that prosecutorial discretion is thus limited by applying the statue only to those enumerated positions. (App.A, page 6). As previously observed, however, the "relationships" involved in each of the conflict-cases discussed above were also expressly circumscribed by the respective statutes. Yet this Court found, for instance, in Locklin, that notwithstanding the fact that the statute was specifically directed to an agent or employee of the

state or federal government, "the determination of a standard of guilt is left to be supplied by courts or juries." 30 So.2d at 103. And in <u>DeLeo</u>, even though a "public servant" was expressly defined in Chapter 838 as "any public officer, agent or governmental employee, whether elected or appointed," this Court still held that the keying of the prohibited conduct into "violation of any statute, rule or regulation, pertaining to the office of the accused, whether they contain criminal penalties themselves or not, and no matter how minor or trivial," rendered the statute "susceptible to arbitrary application because of its 'catch-all' nature." 356 So.2d at 308.

In addition, the Third District found no arbitrary application problems with the commercial bribe receiving statute because the modifier "commercial" was deemed by the court to "limit[] the realm in which the statute may be applied to that of private industry and commercial transactions." (App.A, page 6). However, the statute in <u>Cuda v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, a case which the Third District expressly cited in its opinion, (see App.A, page 5, n.1), was aimed at the purely private relationship between an aged person\disabled adult and one who acted as a guardian or manager of his or her funds. For this same reason, the Third District's further rationale that "the commercial bribe receiving statute applies primarily to private, commercial actors, and not public, political officials.", (App.A, page 6), renders its decision in manifest opposition to this Court's Cuda decision.

Finally, the Third District's decision here expressly misapplies this Court's decision in <u>State v. Rodriguez</u>, 365 So.2d

157 (Fla. 1978), where this Court in a 4-3 decision, narrowly upheld a statute which prohibited a person from knowingly using or trafficking in food stamps "in any manner not authorized by law. . . ". Id. at 158. Rejecting a vagueness attack, this Court reviewed the entire scheme of state and federal statutory and regulatory provisions attendant to the Food Stamp Program, and held that "because of the peculiar nature of the food stamp program, because it is a federal program, and because Chapter 409 gives notice that it is a federal program with federal regulations, we can conclude that Legislature, by the use of the language 'not authorized by law, ' means not authorized by state and federal food stamp law." Id. at 159. Clearly, the Third District in the case at bar, misapplied Rodriguez to the extent that it applied the complex web of federal and state statutory and regulatory law pertinent to the Food Stamp Program to the commercial bribe receiving statute here at issue. Here, as in Locklin v. Pridgeon, supra, no closely related statutory and regulatory scheme can be read in pari materia with the statute to save it from its inherent vagueness and susceptibility to arbitrary application. Aside from these obvious distinctions, petitioner commends to this Court Justice Sundberg's cogent dissenting opinion in Rodriguez, wherein he observed: "Of course, conduct not authorized by law is not limited to criminal conduct but includes any act in contravention of the common law or statute, civil or criminal." 365 So.2d at 161, Sundberg, J., dissenting. Precisely the same can be said with respect to the statute here at issue, which purports to criminalize violations of any statutory or common law duty, whether or not such

violations contain criminal penalties and no manner how trivial.

See also State v. DeLeo, supra.

CONCLUSION

This Court should exercise its discretionary review in this case where the Third District has expressly declared a state statute to be constitutionally valid, and where the Third District, in so doing, has expressly and directly conflicted with several of this Court's constitutional adjudications. This Court has a duty to insure that statutes imposing severe criminal penalties upon the citizenry of this state clearly apprise the citizens of what conduct is proscribed, and are not susceptible to arbitrary application by prosecutors, courts, and juries.