FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 16 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 84,182

ROBERT J. ROQUE,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LINDA S. KATZ
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0672378
Department of Legal Affairs
Office of Attorney General
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The Respondent, the STATE OF FLORIDA, shall refer to the parties in the posture as they appear in before this Court. The symbol "A" will be used to refer to portions of the appendix attached to the Petitioner's brief. The symbol "p" will be used to designate pages of the Petitioner's Brief. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD INVOKE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT \mathbf{TO} ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(b)(3), CONSTITUTION, WHERE THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DECLARED FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 838.15 CONSTITUTIONAL? (REPHRASED).

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE LOWER COURT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT? (REPHRASED).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent accepts the Petitioner's rendition of the case and facts, as set forth in his initial brief, as a substantially accurate account of the proceedings below. Any additional facts which the Respondent seeks to include are contained in the argument portion of the brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent acknowledges this Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, by virtue of the opinion rendered in the instant case by the Third District Court of Appeal which expressly declared Florida's commercial bribe receiving statute, Section 838.15 constitutional. However, as the Respondent maintains that the appellate court was correct in its opinion, there is no need for this Court to exercise its discretion to review the lower court's opinion.

The instant case does not expressly and directly conflict with any other decisions of this Court or of any other district court of appeal. The commercial bribe receiving statute is neither vague nor susceptible of arbitrary application. It is expressly limited to commercial transactions, clearly states what act is prohibited and specifically enumerates professions/legal relationships to which it applies.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT INVOKE TTS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT FLORIDA V, SECTION 3(b)(3), CONSTITUTION, WHERE THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DECLARED FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 838.15 CONSTITUTIONAL.

The Respondent acknowledges this Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, by virtue of the opinion rendered in the instant case by the Third District Court of Appeal which expressly declared Florida's commercial bribe receiving statute, Section 838.15 constitutional. However, as set forth in the argument portion directed to the Petitioner's allegation of conflict with other Supreme Court opinions, the Respondent maintains that the appellate court was correct in its opinion. Accordinly, there is no need for this Court to exercise its discretion to review the lower court's opinion.

THE DECISION OF THE LOWER COURT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT.

The trial court dismissed 35 counts of commercial bribe receiving charged against the Petitioner pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 838.15 (Supp. 1990) and declared the statute

unconstitutionally vague. On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed. In its opinion, the third district held that the statute is neither unconstitutionally vague nor susceptible of arbitrary application.

Petitioner now argues that the appellate court's decision is in conflict with several decisions of this Court dealing with similar statutes, to wit: Locklin v. Pridgeon, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So. 2d 102 (1947); State v. DeLeo, 356 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1978); State v. Jenkins, 469 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 1985); Cuda v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S346 (Fla. June 30, 1994) and State v. Rodriguez, 365 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1978). The Respondent maintains that the third district's opinion in the instant action not directly or expressly conflict with any of aforementioned cases.

Florida Statute Section 838.15 (Supp. 1990) provides as follows:

⁽¹⁾ A person commits the crime of commercial bribe receiving if the person solicits, accepts, or agrees to accept a benefit with intent to violate a statutory or common law duty to which that person is subject as:

⁽a) An agent or employee of another;

⁽b) A trustee, guardian, or other fiduciary;

⁽c) A lawyer, physician, accountant, appraiser, or other professional adviser;

⁽d) An officer, director, partner, manager, or other participant in the direction of the affairs of an organization; or

⁽e) An arbitrator or other purportedly disinterested adjudicator or referee.

⁽²⁾ Commercial bribe receiving is a third degree felony, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

The allegation of vagueness is based upon a portion of subsection (1) of the commercial bribe receiving statute which states that:

A person commits the crime of commercial bribe receiving if the person solicits, accepts, or agrees to accept a benefit with the intent to violate a statutory or common law duty to which that person is subject ...

The Petitioner alleges that the statute fails to define the nature of the "statutory or common law duty" to which the person is subject. P. 5).

The Petitioner's argument fails to acknowledge that the statute limits and defines the common law or statutory duties involved to those which apply to the professions and legal relationships specifically enumerated in subparts (1)(a) through (e) of the statute. The third district held that "[a] person who fits into one or more of these categories is certainly aware of commensurate with that station." the duties which are Accordingly, the court concluded that, when read in its entirety, the statute is not unconstitutionally vague because the party to whom the law applies has fair notice of what is prohibited.

As set forth in the third district's reasoning, the enumerated professions/legal relationships set forth in the commercial bribe receiving statute provide a "backdrop" for the statutory and common law duties referred to in the statute. Similarly, in State v. Rodriguez, 365 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1978),

this Court upheld a statute containing language that prohibited acts "not authorized by law." The Court found that the statute, which involved food stamp fraud, was so inextricably linked to federal law that the use of the language "not authorized by law" means not authorized by state and federal food stamp law. Just as the federal law served as a backdrop in Rodriguez, providing requisite notice to make the statute constitutional, the enumerated professions/legal relationships in the subject statute provides notice as to whom the law applies. Thus, the third district did not expressly and directly misapply Rodriguez, nor is its opinion in any way in conflict with it.

Rodriguez makes it distinguishable from Locklin v. Pridgeon, 158 Fla. 737, 30 So. 2d 102 (1947), which involved a statute which made it unlawful for any officer, agent, or employee of the federal government or the State of Florida to commit any act under color of authority of their position which is "not authorized by law." See Cuda v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S346 (Fla. June 30, 1994). In Locklin, this Court held that the statute's use of "not authorized by law" was unconstitutionally vague because it required every government employee and officer to determine at his peril what specific acts are and are not authorized by law.

The commercial bribe statute is distinguishable from <u>Locklin</u> because the enumerated professions/legal relationships provide

notice. Moreover, the commercial bribe receiving act does not prohibit "any" act which is not authorized by law. Instead, it expressly prohibits commercial bribe receiving. Thus, the third district's opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with Locklin. For the same reason, it does not conflict with Cuda, in which this Court held that the statute at issue was unconstitutionally vague because, inter alia, it contained no clear explanation of the proscribed conduct.

Lastly, the instant statute is highly distinguishable from both State v. Jenkins and State v. DeLeo, which dealt with official misconduct on the part of public officials. The limitation of the commercial bribe receiving statute to commercial transactions, along with the enumerated positions, clearly distinguish the instant opinion from Jenkins and DeLeo. The political undertones present in Jenkins and DeLeo factored strongly into the opinions, as the Court was concerned that the statute could be used to misuse the judicial process for political purposes. Thus, the third district's opinion is also not in direct or express conflict with Jenkins and DeLeo.

CONCLUSION

Although this Court has discretionary jurisdiction by virtue of the lower court's opinion declaring the subject statute constitutional, as indicated by the foregoing facts, authorities and reasoning, the lower court's decision was correct and does

not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or of another District Court of Appeal. Thus, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court does not invoke its jurisdiction for the purpose of reviewing the lower court's opinion. Accordingly, the subject petition should be denied.